IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FEB 27 1984

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

Chief Deputy Clerk

FIDELITY AND CASUALTY COMPANY OF NEW YORK,

Petitioner,

Case Number 64,825

DCA Case Number 82 1706

v. JAMES L. COPE, as

Personal Representative of the Estate of Anna L. Cope,

Deceased,

Respondent.

#### PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF

Jonathan L. Alpert, Esq. of Messrs. Fowler, White, Gillen, Boggs, Villareal & Banker Post Office Box 1438 Tampa 33601 813 228 7411 Attorneys for Petitioner

##

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case is before this court under Fla. R. App. P. \$9.030(a)(2)(A)(vi), the Second District Court of Appeal having certified that its decision is in direct conflict with <u>Kelly v. Williams</u>, 411 So. 2d 902 (Fla. 5th DCA 1982), petition for review denied, 419 So. 2d 1198 (Fla. 1982). The Second District rendered its opinion on January 20, 1984, and Notice to Invoke Discretionary Jurisdiction was duly filed on January 26, 1984.

The Second District affirmed the decision of the trial court (nonjury) and held that a satisfaction of judgment and settlement and release with the insured-tortfeasor by the injured party did not bar a "bad faith" excess claim against the insurer, even though the insured did not pay any sum in excess of the policy limits to obtain the satisfaction of judgment and release.

The parties will be referred to as they stood in the trial court, or by name, or as they stand in this court. R. stands for the record; T. for the transcript of the trial; and A. for the appendix.

#### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On March 30, 1978, Fidelity and Casualty's insured, Brosnan, was, with permission, operating an automobile owned by Gehan, (insured by Hartford), in which Gehan was a passenger. Brosnan ran a stop sign and collided with a vehicle driven by James L. Cope. Cope's wife, Anna L. Cope, was a passenger in the car. Mrs. Cope was killed and Mr. Cope was injured. Ms. Gehan was also injured. Brosnan was charged with DWI and vehicular homicide. (A. 18).

Fidelity had issued a \$10,000/\$20,000 liability policy to Brosnan. On April 26, 1978, Cope's attorney wrote to Brosnan, informing Brosnan of the attorney's representation of Cope. Brosnan turned this letter over to the lawyer representing him in the DWI/homicide case. On May 2, 1978, the lawyer forwarded the letter to Fidelity and Casualty's adjuster with a request that the case be settled. (A. 18).

On October 9, 1978, a seven day demand letter was sent to Fidelity and Casualty by the attorney who represented both Mr. and Mrs. Cope. [Plaintiff's Exhibit A, R. 5, A. 5]. This letter contained for the first time the medical reports and bills incurred by Mr. Cope and demanded that Fidelity and Casualty pay each Cope \$10,000.00, thereby exhausting its policy limits of \$20,000.00. (R. 5, A. 5).

On October 16, 1978, Mr. Dan Curtis of Fidelity and Casualty, responded to the attorney stating the following:

"In reply to your letter of October 9, 1978, I am sure you are aware of our policy limits of 10-20. Also, I understand Hartford, who insures Jacqueline Gehan, has a 10-20 policy; therefore, the total

limit of both policies is \$40,000.

Obviously the injuries sustained by Mr. and Mrs. Cope are severe enough to warrant the policy limits, however, we cannot overlook the fact that Jacqueline Gehan, likewise has sustained very serious injuries and is represented by attorney J. M. Thorpe of 6551 Central Avenue, St. Petersburg, telephone 381-8774, who has put us on notice.

Under the circumstances, it might behoove you to call Mr. Thorpe and work out some sort of settlement which would be amicable to all parties concerned. We at this point are willing to tender our policy limit of \$20,000 when a settlement has been worked out between you and Mr. Thorpe.

We will forward you a copy of the declaration sheet when obtained." [Defendant's Composite Exhibit #1, Page 34, A. 15].

The attorney did not reply to this letter until November 22, 1978, when he confirmed a telephone conversation of October 17, 1978, regarding Fidelity and Casualty's exposure to bad faith and advised Fidelity and Casualty that suit had been filed. [Plaintiff's Exhibit B, R. 6, A. 6].

On November 17, 1978, Hartford, Gehan's insurer, had refused to settle. (R. 121). Also, on November 15, 1978, Reserve Insurance Company (Cope's uninsured motorist carrier), refused to approve a settlement. (R. 121.) Cope's attorney filed suit, not because of what Fidelity & Casualty did, but because Hartford, Gehan's insurer and primary insurer, refused to negotiate with him. (T. 57, R. 121, A. 14). Also, Cope's attorney refused to negotiate with Gehan's attorney, as suggested by Mr. Curtis of Fidelity. (R. 121, A. 14).

Suit was filed on November 22, 1978, but was not served until December 26, 1978. (Defendant's Composite Exhibit 1, Page 13).

Thereafter, the Anna L. Cope suit went to trial and resulted in a jury verdict of \$100,000.00, against Brosnan, [called Vorosman in the transcript], Gehan, Hartford, Fidelity. (Complaint of Plaintiff, ¶13, R. 3, A. 3).

After the jury verdict was obtained, on October 23, 1980, the plaintiff filed a complaint for excess judgment against Hartford. That suit was settled for \$50,000.00, "and plaintiff executed a release on May 14, 1981, which released Hartford Accident & Indemnity Company, Jacqueline Gehan and Daniel J. Brosnan from all financial responsibility arising out of of the judgment obtained against them. . . " (Complaint of Plaintiff, \$16, R. 3-4, A. 3-4).

Thereafter, on June 18, 1981, the plaintiff filed the instant suit against Fidelity & Casualty Company, alleging that the defendant refused to negotiate in good faith; the Defendant negligently, arbitrarily, unreasonably and in bad faith refused to even negotiate on a settlement of the claim between October 9, 1978, and November 22, 1978, the date upon which the plaintiff had filed suit. (Complaint of Plaintiff, ¶¶9, 11, R.2-3, A. 2-3). The complaint further alleged that the offer to settle within policy limits had been withdrawn as of the date of the filing of suit. (Complaint of Plaintiff, ¶12, R. 3, A. 3).

<sup>1</sup> After the "bad faith" suit against Fidelity was filed, plaintiff executed a satisfaction of judgment in favor of Fidelity's insured, Daniel J. Brosnan. The satisfaction was executed on July 10, 1981. (R. 200, A. 10).

Therefore, the pleadings limited the period of "bad faith" refusal to settle to the period between October 9, 1978, and November 22, 1978. (Complaint of Plaintiff, ¶¶9 - 12, R. 2-3, A. 2-3). Therefore, what took place before and after the alleged bad faith period was neither pled nor tried by consent. (T. 12, 2, 5, 40).

At the excess trial, the existence of the release and satisfaction of judgment in favor of the insured, Brosnan, was admitted by the plaintiff. (T. 54-55). Further, the record indicates that the reason for filing suit on November 22, 1978, was not because of anything Fidelity did, but rather because Hartford refused to settle. (T.57, Plaintiff's Exhibit 1, R. 121, A. 14).<sup>2</sup>

Further, the evidence at trial established that Fidelity and Casualty Company was at all times willing to tender its policy limits, but was unable to do so because of actions by the plaintiff and Hartford. (T. 62 - 67, 57, 91). In point of fact, Cope did not have permission from his uninsured motorist carrier to settle. (T. 58-59, R. 121, A. 14). Fidelity and Casualty had exposure to both Mr. and Mrs. Cope and Mrs. Gehan and an obligation to Mrs. Gehan. (T. 62-67, A. 15-16).

Further, Fidelity and Casualty as the insurer of the driver, not the owner, was not in charge of settlement negotiations, but was limited by its obligations to the primary insurer, Hartford, the insurer of the owner. (T. 91).

<sup>2 &</sup>quot;ll/17/78 - Hoke from Hartford called RWH [Holman, Plaintiff's attorney] -- indicated to RWH he was not going to do anything -- just sit back and wait."

Finally, as of July 10, 1981, a year before the "bad faith" trial, Daniel Brosnan, Fidelity's insured, was not exposed to any excess judgment, but rather was completely released and discharged, both a release and satisfaction of judgment having been executed in his favor. (R. 200 -203, A. 7 - 10).

#### ISSUES ON APPEAL

I

IS A LIABILITY INSURER LIABLE TO AN INJURED PARTY FOR AN EXCESS JUDGMENT AFTER THE INJURED PARTY HAS EXECUTED A SATISFACTION OF JUDGMENT IN FAVOR OF ITS INSURED AND, IN FACT, HAS RELEASED ITS INSURED FROM ALL LIABILITY FOR AN EXCESS JUDGMENT?

#### DISCUSSED IN ARGUMENT I

#### II

IS AN INSURER WHICH IS ONLY SECONDARILY LIABLE GUILTY OF "BAD FAITH" WHEN IT TRIES TO PAY ITS POLICY LIMITS, BUT IS UNABLE TO DO SO BECAUSE THE PLAINTIFF AND THE PRIMARY CARRIER WILL NOT SETTLE, PARTICULARLY, AFTER ITS INSURED HAS BEEN FULLY RELEASED AND HAS NO LIABILITY TO THE INJURED PARTY BECAUSE OF THE RELEASE AND A SATISFACTION OF JUDGMENT EXECTED BY THE INJURED PARTY?

#### DISCUSSED IN ARGUMENT II

#### ARGUMENT I

A LIABILITY INSURER IS NOT LIABLE TO AN INJURED PARTY FOR AN EXCESS JUDGMENT AFTER THE INJURED PARTY HAS EXECUTED A SATISFACTION OF JUDGMENT IN FAVOR OF THE INSURED AND, IN FACT, HAS RELEASED THE INSURED FROM ALL LIABILITY FOR AN EXCESS JUDGMENT AND THE INSURED HAS NOT PAID FOR THE RELEASE AND SATISFACTION.

Assuming arguendo that Fidelity and Casualty acted in bad faith, the settlement and release and satisfaction of judgment barred the "bad faith" claim against Fidelity and Casualty. The crux of this issue is the following reasoning by the Second District at page 6 of its opinion, (A. 22):

"We disagree with <u>Kelly v. Williams</u>, 411 So. 2d 902 (Fla. 5th DCA 1982), petition for review denied, 419 So. 2d 1198 (Fla. 1982)], and hold that appellant, [Fidelity and Casualty], Florida law recognizes that an injured liable. party/judgment creditor may maintain suit directly against a tortfeasor's liability insurer for judgment in excess of the policy limits based upon bad faith of the insurer in the conduct or the handling of the original claim. Thompson v. Commercial Union Insurance Co. of New York, 250 So. 2d 259 (Fla. 1971). Hence, it is a separate and L distinct cause of action. See, Kelly, 411 So. 2d at 905 (Cowart, J., dissenting). If Brosnan had satisfied the judgment out of his own pocket and obtained a release and satisfaction of judgment, absent a prohibition in the policy, appellant would not have been relieved of liability to Brosnan. C. f., Aetna Casualty & Surety Co. v. Beane, 385 So. 2d 1087 (Fla. 4th DCA 1980). Similarly, we think that where the insurer's bad faith is a separate tort, as here, the injured party may release the tortfeasor from personal liability on the judgment without discharging the insurer from liability for its independent tort. Indeed, Hartford has a duty to both its insureds, Gehan and Brosnan, to seek their discharge from further personal liability as a part of the negotiated settlement of the bad faith claim against Hartford. However, this did not affect appellant's liability for its own bad faith."

The Second District has misapprehended the applicable law. First, Thompson v. Commercial Union, supra, holds that a judgment creditor may maintain a bad faith suit. Cope was not a judgment creditor, (nor was Brosnan a judgment debtor), rather the judgment had been satisfied.

Second, the Second District is correct that, if Brosnan had satisfied the judgment out of his own pocket, Fidelity and Casualty would be liable to Brosnan. But, this did not occur. Fidelity and Casualty is not liable to Brosnan or to Cope on a constructive assignment theory as neither had a surviving claim for damages due to Fidelity's claimed bad faith. Brosnan did not satisfy the judgment out of his own pocket. Brosnan did not pay for the full release. Rather Hartford has paid. The obligation was extinguished by payment and release. Once an obligation is extinguished, then the duty of one person to reimburse another for that obligation is also extinguished.

For example, the assignee of a bond takes subject to defenses which discharge or destroy the obligation, such as payment or release. 7 Fla. Jur. 2d, Bonds, §2. Once the obligation is discharged by settlement or otherwise, the surety is released, Aetna Casualty & Surety Co. v. Crabtree, 383 So. 2d 657 (Fla. 1st DCA 1980).

Similarly, the law of guaranty is the same. "The satisfaction by payment or otherwise of the principal obligation operates to discharge the guarantor." 28 Fla. Jur. 2d, Guaranty and Suretyship, \$28 at page 258. The law of suretyship is the same. "Since a surety's obligation is generally coextensive with

that of the principal, the extinguishment of the principal obligation normally extinguishes the obligation of the surety. If the principal debtor pays the debt, of course, the surety is discharged. And, where the creditor releases the debtor from performance of his obligation, the surety is also released although this may not have been the creditor's intention. 28 Fla. Jur. 2d, Guaranty and Suretyship, §46 at page 278.

There can be no constructive assignment of a non-existent claim. If person "A" is not entitled to recover damages from person "B," then person "C," claiming through "A," cannot be entitled to recover damages from "B" on any theory. A non-existent obligation cannot be assigned and, even if it exists when it is assigned, it can be extinguished by discharge: payment, release and satisfaction.

An insurance policy is to be interpreted as other contracts and the discharge of a contract may take place through accord and satisfaction, compromise and settlement, or release.

11 Fla. Jur. 2d, Contracts, \$161. To adopt the rule adopted by the district court below is to place insurance contracts in an entirely separate category: that is, unlike any other obligation, the insurer may continue to be obligated even when its insured is not obligated, has not been damaged, and when its insured, in fact, has been discharged from any liability and released and had a judgment against him satisfied.

It is axiomatic that any insurer's duty to settle arises out of contract with its insured, <a href="Geico v. Grounds">Geico v. Grounds</a>, 332 So. 2d 13 (Fla. 1976). A breach of this contractual duty can only occur

when and if the insured is exposed to liability because of the insurer's action. Once the insured has no exposure, there can be no bad faith. First, the release.

Paragraph 2 of the release dated May 14, 1981, specifically releases the insured, Daniel J. Brosnan, from any liability:

"2. That Jacqueline A. Gehan and Daniel N. Brosnan, their heirs, executors and personal representatives are hereby released and forever discharged from all financial responsibility arising out of the judgment obtained against them in connection with the civil suit filed in 1978 on behalf of the Estate of Anna L. Cope in the Circuit Court for Pinellas County, bearing Case No. 78-11910-11." (R. 201, A. 7).

The release further releases Mr. Brosnan's insurer, not by name, but by designation, in Paragraph 9:

"9. That I hereby covenant with each of the parties hereby released, their heirs, executors, administrators, successors, representatives, assigns, principals, agents, servants, insurers and employees for or on account of the matters described herein that this settlement is made in good faith, and that these presents may be pleaded as a defense to any action or other proceeding which may be brought or instituted by me or on behalf of Anna L. Cope's estate against them in breach of this covenant." (R. 203, A. 9).

This release is not a "form" or "boilerplate" release of the type criticized in <u>Hurt v. Leatherby Ins. Co.</u>, 380 So. 2d 432 (Fla. 1980). Rather, an examination of the release itself, which is in the appendix to this brief, establishes that it was specifically prepared and negotiated, there having been interlineations by plaintiff's counsel, in the release itself. Therefore, this release should be enforced according to its

terms. Parole evidence is inadmissible to show intent or vary its terms. Gendzier v. Bielecki, 97 So. 2d 604 (Fla. 1957).

The plaintiff prior to this action executed a release specifically in favor of the insured, Daniel J. Brosnan, and his "insurers." The consideration for the release, as expressed on the face of it, is \$50,000.00. There having been ample consideration, it is plain that the release specifically releases the insured and his insurers, including the appellant/defendant here, Hernandez v. Aguiar, 433 So. 2d 54 (Fla. 3d DCA 1983); Lipman v. Ahearn, 374 So. 2d 605 (Fla. 3d DCA 1979).

is unambiguous and there Where a release no contention that it was obtained by fraud, mistake misrepresentation, testimony by a signatory as to unexpressed intent is not competent evidence, Gendzier v. Bielecki, supra, Pan-American Life Ins. Co. v. Fuentes, 258 So. 2d 8 (Fla. 4th DCA The intent of the parties is gathered from a construction of the release, Prescott v. Kraeher, 123 So. 2d 721, 728 (Fla. 2d DCA 1960). A general release may not be avoided unless there was a mistake as to a past or present material fact at the time of the execution of the release. D. F. S., Inc., v. Beasley Crane Service & Sales, Inc., 251 So. 2d 727, 729 (Fla. 2d DCA 1971).

It is settled that the liability of the insurer is purely derivative; the insurer is not liable unless and until its insured is liable. Further, the liability of the ". . . insurance company does not arise in tort, but arises out of contract, and does not accrue until after . . [Plaintiff] has . . . a judgment against the alleged Defendant tortfeasor to whom .

. . [the insurance company] issues its policy of . . . insurance." Clemons v. Flagler Hospital, Inc., 385 So. 2d 1134, 1136 (Fla. 5th DCA 1980), citing Davis v. Williams, 239 So. 2d 593, 595 (Fla. 1st DCA 1970).

This fundamental principle has been most recently expressed in <u>Kelly v. Williams</u>, 411 So. 2d 902 (Fla. 5th DCA 1982), in which the tortfeasor agreed to accept a specific sum in settlement pursuant to a stipulation but sought, nonetheless, to pursue a bad faith claim against the insurance company. The Fifth District quite properly held, 411 So. 2d at 904:

"The essence of a 'bad faith' insurance suit (whether it is brought by the insured or by the injured party standing in his place), is that the insurer breached its duty to its insured by failing to properly or promptly defend the claim (which may encompass its failure to make a good faith offer of settlement within the policy limits) - all of which results in the insured being exposed to an excess Under the arrangement stipulated to by judgment. the parties in this case, the insured could not be judgment exposed an excess under to If one was obtained, the insured circumstances. was entitled to a complete satisfaction of it, as soon as the judgment became final or enforceable. The stipulation completely safeguarded the insured, it completely and therefore discharged insurer's duty to its insured."

Kelly v. Williams, should be contrasted with Aetna Casualty & Surety Co. v. Beane, 385 So. 2d 1087 (Fla. 4th DCA 1980). Beane, which was not a bad faith refusal to settle or pay case, involved the part payment of a jury verdict by one of two insurers following a jury verdict in exchange for a full and final release, an assignment of judgment, and a satisfaction of judgment. In that case, Aetna, an excess insurer, was required

to pay its \$50,000.00 in coverage as the release and satisfaction of judgment in favor of American States entered into after the jury verdict, but before the final judgment, did not inure to its benefit. The parties to the settlement in <a href="Beane">Beane</a> had no intention of releasing Aetna, said the court, as demonstrated by the assignment of judgment.

In the instant case, there was no assignment of judgment and the liability of Fidelity and Casualty, if any, rests solely upon bad faith refusal to settle resulting in exposing its insured to liability. As its insured is not exposed to liability, there can be no liability of Fidelity and Casualty Company. This is particularly evident as the release not only insured, but all specifically releases the also of his "insurers." Hence, Aetna Casualty & Surety Co. v. Beane, is distinguishable and not on point; Kelly v. Williams, and the other cases cited are. Bad faith liability is dependent upon exposure of the insured; there is no such exposure nor can there be after execution of a release.

Further, it is plain that the satisfaction of judgment in favor of the insured bars this claim. Even though an injured party may directly sue an insurer for bad faith settlement, the law requires that there be some continuing liability of the insured to support the bad faith allegation. The case creating the direct action against the insurer, Thompson v. Commercial Union Insurance Co., 250 So. 2d 259 Fla. 1971), specifically holds:

"Accordingly, we adopt the language set out above from the concurring opinion of Wigginton, J., in Canal Insurance Co. of Greenville, S. C. v. Sturgis, supra, and hold that a judgment creditor may maintain suit directly against tortfeasor's liability insurer for recovery of the judgment in excess of the policy limits. . " [250 So. 2d at 264] [emphasis added].

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