MAR 22 1984

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

ELENK, SUFREME COURT

FIDELITY AND CASUALTY COMPANY OF NEW YORK,

Petitioner,

CASE NO. 64,825

vs.

DCA Case No. 82-1706

JAMES L. COPE, as Personal Representative of the Estate of ANNA L. COPE, deceased,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF

Robert W. Holman of Hammond and Holman Post Office Box 2210 Pinellas Park, FL 33565 Phone (813) 544-8819

G. Robert Schultz 666 First Avenue North St. Petersburg, FL 33701 Phone (813) 822-5718

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

and the opinion of the District Court at page 5 (A 17):

". . .Appellant (Fidelity) was not named in the releasing claim nor did it contribute any money toward securing the release or the satisfaction of judgment. Appellant argues that general language in paragraph 9 of the release was effective to discharge it even though not specifically named. This is a question of fact and the trial court's finding that appellant was not released is supported by substantial competent evidence. Cf. Hurt v. Leatherby Insurance Co., 380 So.2d 432 (Fla. 1980)."

An examination of the release agreement readily indicates that it was not the intent of the releasor, Cope, to confer a

benefit upon Fidelity. (A 1-3)

Fidelity is nowhere mentioned by name in the release agreement, but attempts to become a donee beneficiary, without contribution, of the release agreement by asking this Court to encompass it within the general language of paragraph 9 of the release, something which both the trial court and the District Court declined to do. (A 1-3)

Fidelity argues at page 9 of its brief that:

"The Second District has misapprehended the applicable law. First, Thompson v. Commercial Union, supra, holds that a judgment creditor may maintain a bad faith suit. Cope was not a judgment creditor, (nor was Brosnan a judgment debtor), rather the judgment had been satisfied."

and further concludes this argument at page 12 as follows:

". . . Further, the liability of the '. . . insurance company does not arise in tort, but arises out of contract, and does not accrue until after [Plaintiff] has . . . a judgment against the alleged Defendant tortfeasor to whom . . [the insurance company] issues its policy of . . . insurance.' Clemons v. Flagler Hospital, Inc., 385 So. 2d 1134, 1136 (Fla. 5th DCA 1980), citing Davis v. Williams, 239 So. 2d 593, 595 (Fla. 1st DCA 1970)."

Cope would submit that it is Fidelity that has misapprehended the law or at least the facts in this case as applied to the law which it argues.

In this case, an excess judgment was entered against Fidelity's insured, Brosnan, at the conclusion of the jury trial. (A 11-12) The release and the satisfaction of judgment

were executed only after the subsequent proceedings were initiated against Hartford, the other carrier involved. (A 1-3, A 4) Therefore, once the excess judgment had been entered against Fidelity's insured, Fidelity had breached its duty to its insured and the insured was exposed to an excess judgment. The cause of action for a bad faith claim had accrued. (A 5-10)

As specifically set out in <u>Kelly v. Williams</u>, 411 So.2d 902 (Fla. 5th DCA 1982) at page 904:

"However, a cause of action for bad faith arises when the insured is legally obligated to pay a judgment that is in excess of his policy limits."

Cope would further submit that under these circumstances, this case is distinguishable from <u>Kelly v. Willliams</u>, supra, wherein the court also recites at page 904:

". . . Under the arrangement stipulated to by the parties in this case, the insured could not be exposed to an excess judgment under any circumstances."

In these proceedings, the excess judgment had been entered against Fidelity's insured, the insured become exposed and the cause of action had accrued. (R 136-137).

A further distinguishing element warrants consideration. In the <u>Kelly</u> case, Allstate, the insurer, negotiated and paid the consideration for the release. In this case, Fidelity did not participate and paid nothing, but attempts now to portray itself as a benefactor.

Fidelity also has repeatedly argued that the liability of Fidelity depends upon the liability of its insured, Brosnan; that an insurer's obligation extends only to the legal obligations of the insured, and that the satisfaction of judgment against its insured effectively released Fidelity. These same issues were presented in the case of Aetna Cas. & Sur. Co. v. Beane, 385 So.2d 1087 (Fla. 4th DCA 1980) wherein the Court ruled directly contrary to Fidelity's present position.

The <u>Beane</u> case involved serious injuries received by a minor Plaintiff riding as a passenger in an automobile being operated by a Matthew Carroll. American States Insurance Company afforded primary coverage and Aetna Casualty & Surety Company was an excess insurer. Trial of the case resulted in a jury verdict in excess of American States Insurance Company's limits whereupon American States paid to the Plaintiffs its policy limits in consideration of a full and final release, an Assignment of Judgment and a Satisfaction of Judgment. Included in the release and Satisfaction was Matthew Carroll.

Aetna then took the position that the release of Matthew Carroll, its insured, and Satisfaction of the Judgment against him had the effect of extinguishing any liability that might otherwise have accrued against Aetna.

At page 1089 the Third District Court of Appeal found:

". . . Appellant (Aetna) contends that

since the liability of an insurer depends upon the liability of its insured and that an insurer's obligation extends only to the legal obligations of the insured, the release of Aetna's insured effectively extinguished Aetna's liability.

"The flaw in the logic of appellant's position is that the liability of the insured arises in the context of commission of a tort whereas the insurer's liability arises by virtue of third-party beneficiary principles of contract. While the insurer and the insured are not joint tort-feasors, neither are they joint obligors under a contract. . . Because the parties are neither joint tort-feasors nor joint and several obligors, neither the statute nor the common-law rule offers support to appellant's position on this point.

"Had Aetna's insured personally satisfied the judgment against him and obtained a release and satisfaction of judgment, absent some prohibition in the policy, Aetna would not thereby have been relieved of liability. The right of plaintiff under the judgment would enure to the insured's benefit and entitle him to recover against the insurer.

"What happened in the instant case is little different in fact and no different in legal effect. Aetna remains liable."

Cope would also cite the case of Alexander v. Kirkham, 365 So.2d 1038 (Fla. 3d DCA 1979) wherein the Court held, at pages 1040 and 1041 as follows:

"It must be pointed out that the defendants in this case were neither parties to the release agreement, gave any consideration for it, nor changed their position in any way in reliance upon its terms. . . They simply seek to be the donee beneficiaries of an enormous benefit, freedom from tort liability, gratuitously placed in their laps through the inadvertence of third parties. On these facts there is therefore no legal or equitable reason to interfere with the effectuation of the conceded intention of the parties to the agreement themselves . . "

In this case, Fidelity likewise seeks to be the donee beneficiary of a release agreement for which it paid nothing and to which it was not a party and both the trial court and the District Court so concluded.

Assuming arguendo that the trial court erred in holding that the plain language of the release did not include Fidelity and that the District Court improperly affirmed this holding, testimony relative to the intent of the parties was presented at trial and was considered by the trial court as follows (T 44):

- "Q. Okay, Was there ever an intention to release Fidelity and Casualty Insurance?
- A. No, They had hadn't paid any money on it.
 There was no intention to release them."

In addition, Cope submitted the affidavit of Judith W. Simmons, the attorney representing Hartford, who actually negotiated and prepared the release and who stated in her affidavit that Fidelity was deliberately not specifically named in the release. Ms. Simmons also recollected in her affidavit that a release on behalf of Fidelity was not bargained for between or on behalf of the parties. (R 48

and 49; R 73 and 74)

Accordingly, for the purpose of argument, if it could be said that the release agreement did include Fidelity in its broad definition as an insurer, on the evidence presented to the trial court, Cope would have been entitled to reformation of same.

As reflected at page 4 of the District Court's opinion Fidelity did not plead the release until the time of pretrial conference when it then moved to amend its affirmative defenses to plead the release as an affirmative defense. (A 16)

The trial court did admit the release in evidence, but also allowed the testimony as stated above relative to the intent of the parties to the release.

Therefore, it is apparent that if the trial court had not found the release clearly did not include Fidelity, it is also apparent that it would have or should have allowed reformation.

As stated by Judge Lehan in his concurring opinion: (A 24):

"The record establishes beyond doubt that the parties to the release did not intend to release appellant. Therefore, elements of a reformation action by reason of mutual mistake exist. But under the circumstances of this case and consistent with Hurt, there is and should be no formalistic, technical requirement that a reformation action be a condition precedent to relief. See Alexander y. Kirkman, 365 So. 2d 1038 (Fla.

3d DCA 1979), which involved reformation of a release which had mistakenly released an insurer who had paid nothing for the release."

ARGUMENT II

AN INSURER WHICH IS ONLY SECONDARILY LIABLE IS NOT GUILTY OF "BAD FAITH" WHEN IT TRIES TO PAY ITS POLICY LIMITS, BUT IS UNABLE TO DO SO BECAUSE THE PLAINTIFF AND THE PRIMARY CARRIER WILL NOT SETTLE, PARTICULARLY, AFTER ITS INSURED HAS BEEN FULLY RELEASED AND HAS NO LIABILITY TO THE INJURED PARTY BECAUSE OF THE RELEASE AND A SATISFACTION OF JUDGMENT EXECUTED BY THE INJURED PARTY.

Fidelity's second argument is best epitomized by reference to two statements contained in its brief.

At page 17, the brief states:

". . .It [Fidelity] tried to settle and exercised the utmost good faith to its insured."

and at page 21:

"Although not dispositive to the issue on appeal, it is important to point out that the finding of bad faith was unsupported by the evidence and that, in fact, there was no bad faith by Fidelity and Casualty."

Fidelity fails to consider properly or to present the actual facts as they occurred and the findings of both the trial and appellate courts in these proceedings.

The accident occurred on March 30, 1978 resulting in the death of Anna Cope. Within a period of approximately five weeks, Underwriters Adjusting Company, which was representing Fidelity, became aware that the Cope family was represented by the firm of Hammond and Holman. (R 100)

Approximately one month later, Fidelity or its agent, Underwriters Adjusting Company, was in possession of

inter-office communications indicating that its insured ran a stop sign and was DWI. (R 101 through 106A)

Fidelity made no attempt to contact the attorneys representing the Cope family until after it received a letter from Hammond and Holman dated October 9, 1978 unconditionally offering to settle the claim within the policy limits of \$10,000. (R 108)

After receiving the October 9, 1978 letter demanding the policy limits, some six months after the death of Mrs. Cope, Mr. Curtis, adjuster for Fidelity, made his first and only attempt to negotiate the claim by letter dated October 16, 1978 suggesting that Plaintiff's attorney work out a settlement with the attorney representing another claimant who was an owner-passenger in the vehicle being driven by its insured. (R 109)

On October 17, 1978, the day the letter was received, Plaintiff's attorney called Mr. Curtis of Fidelity and advised that he did not intend to negotiate the Copes' claim with another claimant's attorney and further, that Plaintiff's attorney felt Fidelity was handling this serious claim very nonchalantly; that Fidelity could settle Mrs. Cope's claim in good faith regardless of the number of claimants involved. Mr. Curtis agreed to consult with his house counsel and again contact Plaintiff's attorney. (T 38 and 39)

From the date of the telephone conversation until suit was

filed on November 22, 1978 neither Fidelity nor its agents attempted to contact Plaintiff's attorney. (T 39 and 40)

In addition, Fidelity's own insured testified at the time of trial that Fidelity never made any attempt to advise him of any settlement negotiations. (T 23-25)

In light of the foregoing, Fidelity represents in its brief that it "exercised good faith to its insured," and that "the finding of bad faith was unsupported by the evidence." Yet, the trial court specifically found (A 11):

"1. The failure of the Defendant, Fidelity and Casualty Company of New York, to settle the claim against its insured when it could and should have done so and the further failure to notify its insured or keep him advised of negotiations or offers to settle the claim constituted 'bad faith' on the part of the Defendant, Fidelity and Casualty Company of New York."

and this finding was affirmed by the Second District Court, citing Boston Old Colony Insurance Co. v. Gutierrez, 386 So.2d 783, 785 (Fla.), cert. denied, 450 U.S. 922 (1980).

Cope would respectfully submit that Florida law has consistently recognized the liability of an insurance company for an amount in excess of its policy limits when claims involving great exposure to insureds have not been properly settled. An insurance company has a duty to protect its insured and utilize that degree of care and diligence that a person of ordinary care and prudence should exercise in the management of his own business. Auto Mutual Indemnity Co. v.

Shaw, 184 So. 852 (Fla. 1938). This duty has been recognized because insurance companies in the State of Florida have seized all control of the handling of claims which includes decisions with regard to how the claim will be handled and settled, and insurance companies have a duty to exercise their control in their decision making process with due regard for the interests of their insureds. There can be no doubt that the duty of an insurance company includes the obligation to advise properly its insureds of settlement opportunities, to advise the insureds as to the probable outcome of litigation if the matter is not settled, to warn the insureds of the possibility of an excess judgment, and to advise an insured of any steps that may be taken to avoid such situation. Liberty Mutual Insurance Co. v. Davis, 412 Fed.2d 475 (5th Cir. 1969); Ging v. American Liberty Insurance Co., 423 Fed.2d 115 (5th Cir. 1970).

Florida law clearly recognizes that there is an obligation upon an insurance company to not only investigate claims which are made against its insureds, but there is a requirement that the insurance company settle if possible such claims where a reasonable prudent person would do so if faced with the prospect of paying the total amount of any judgment. Government Employees Insurance Co. v. Grounds, 311 So.2d DCA 1975): Boston Old Colony Insurance Co. v. Gutierrez, 386 So.2d 783 (Fla. 1980).

The concept of the "duty of good faith" certainly involves

diligence and care in the investigation, evaluation and handling of claims against insureds, and Florida law clearly recognizes that any neglience on the part of an insurance company is certainly relevant to the question of whether an insurance company has operated properly. Boston Old Colony Insurance Co. v. Gutierrez, 386 So.2d 783 (Fla. 1980); American Fidelity and Casualty Co. v. Greyhound Corp., 258 Fed.2d 709 (5th Cir. 1958); DeLaune v. Liberty Mutual Insurance Co., 314 So.2d 601 (Fla. 4th DCA 1975).

CONCLUSION

In conclusion Cope would respectfully submit, first, that the <u>Kelly</u> case, supra, is actually distinguishable in that:

- 1. No judgment was ever entered against the insured in <u>Kelly</u>, whereas in these proceedings Fidelity's insured did become liable for an excess judgment;
- 2. In <u>Kelly</u>, the insurer negotiated and paid for the release whereas Fidelity was neither a party to negotiation of the release nor paid the first dime in consideration therefor; and
- 3. In <u>Kelly</u>, the court commented that there was no attempt, at the trial court level, to show mistake in execution of the release so as to entitle Plaintiff to reformation, whereas in the Cope case evidence was presented at the trial court level relative to the intent of the parties in execution of the release.

Accordingly, it should be determined that no conflict exists and the District Court of Appeal should be affirmed.

Secondly, the specific findings of facts made by the trial court:

- 1. That the release did not include Fidelity, and
- 2. That Fidelity's actions constituted "bad faith," were well founded, entitled to a presumption of correctness

and should be affirmed.